
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Sally Cole, Governance Services 
on (01432) 260249 or e-mail scole@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Cabinet 
 

 

Date: Thursday 13 December 2012 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Sally Cole, Governance Services 
Tel: (01432) 260249 
Email: scole@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 

 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Cabinet 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor JG Jarvis 
  
  

Councillor H Bramer  
Councillor RB Hamilton  
Councillor AW Johnson  
Councillor PM Morgan  
Councillor RJ Phillips  
Councillor GJ Powell  
Councillor PD Price  

 
  

 
 

 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  13 DECEMBER 2012 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
Notice has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 9 (Publicity in 

connection with key decisions) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
Item 
No 

Title Portfolio 
Responsibility 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

28 Day 
Notice Given  

5 To Consider Future 
Options for Waste 
Contract 

Cabinet 
Member Major 
Contracts 

General 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 

Yes 

 
 

 

   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive any apologies for absence.  
   
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
3. MINUTES   1 - 6  
   
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meetings held on 12 and 15 

November 2012. 
 

   
4. BUDGET UPDATE 2013/14   7 - 16  
   
 To provide an updated budget position for 2013/14 and confirm the current 

financial planning assumptions as well as the approach being taken around 
the Root and Branch process for budget setting. 

 

   
5. TO CONSIDER FUTURE OPTIONS FOR WASTE CONTRACT   17 - 52  
   
 To consider the proposals being made by Mercia Waste Management for 

the treatment of residual waste. 
 

   





The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 
 
 

Public Transport Links 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs approximately 

every 20 minutes from the City bus station at the Tesco store in Bewell Street (next to the 
roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Vineyard Road near to its junction with 
Old Eign Hill.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 

 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point A which is located at the 
southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken to 
ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the building 
following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the 
exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to 
collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer 
waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). 
Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel 
environmental label 

 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Cabinet held at The Council 
Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford on Monday 12 
November 2012 at 10.00 am 
  

Present: Councillor JG Jarvis (Chairman) 
 

   
 Councillors: RB Hamilton, RJ Phillips, GJ Powell and PD Price 
 
  
In attendance: Councillors AM Atkinson, NP Nenadich, P Rone, MAF Hubbard, RI Matthews, 

A Seldon, ACR Chappell, J Hardwick and AJW Powers 
 
 
Cabinet stood for a minutes silence in remembrance of Councillor Gordon Lucas. 
 

   
41. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors: H Bramer, Cabinet Member Major 
Projects, AW Johnson, Cabinet Member Financial Management and PM Morgan, Cabinet 
Member Health and Wellbeing. 
 

42. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
3 Variation of Retail Quarter (Old Livestock Market) Development Agreement. 
Councillor JG Jarvis, Personal, Board Member of Hereford Futures. 
 

43. VARIATION OF RETAIL QUARTER (OLD LIVESTOCK MARKET) DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT   
 
The Leader of the Council presented the report of the Director for Places and Communities 
and invited the Chairman of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee to address 
Cabinet. 
 
The Chairman of the General Overview and Scrutiny Committee presented the 
recommendations of the Committee and stated that in referring to recommendation a) value 
for money: retail was in decline and therefore Cabinet needed to be confident that the deal 
before Cabinet represented good value for money.  Recommendation b) procurement rules: 
assurance was sought as to whether the variation constituted a new contract or a variation on 
the previous contract and therefore complied with European procurement rules.  
Recommendation c) risk: a clearer strategy was needed in order that risks were clearly 
understood and who it was that was taking the risk. Recommendation d) paragraph 2.4 
Pinsent Mason report – public procurement advice – it was felt this was not clear and that 
clarification was needed on this point.  Recommendation e) commercial confidentiality: where 
public money was concerned, reasons for confidentiality of documents for the General 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee must be used carefully and not as a means to not disclose 
how public money is used. 
 
In response to the comments of the Chairman of the General Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee the following points were made: 
 

AGENDA ITEM 3

1



 

• It was stated Cabinet accepted the comments made in recommendation e)  to be 
as open as possible, however, it was important to be consistent with other local 
authorities. 

• The Director for Places and Communities provided Members with an updated 
appendix to the report which outlined the risks and where responsibility for the 
risk lay. 

• In referring to value for money, the Chief Officer Finance and Commercial stated 
that further tests on value for money had been carried out, which indicated that 
the Council was getting value for money. Further testing was carried out which 
included the cost of relocating the cattle market, issues around compensation 
and factoring in a reduced business rate.  The indication was for a positive return, 
therefore due diligence had been carried out. 

• In referring to the livestock market it was stated that it was now flourishing and 
expanding and therefore satisfied that it represented a good return, which 
represented value for money and could not be bettered. 

• In response to a question on the financial impact to the Council if Stanhope 
walked away from the deal, it was noted that Cabinet would be left with an empty 
site.  Cabinet was also advised that a significant penalty clause to the Council if 
the cattle market had not been relocated had now fallen away. 

• In referring to the Deed of Variation and the £500k the representative from 
Pinsent Mason stated there was a requirement to be satisfied this was not a 
grant of state aid, as if this was seen to be the case it would require to be repaid. 

• In response to a question if Stanhope had to repay the £500k was there a risk to 
the Council.  The Pinsent Mason representative advised that negotiations had not 
commenced on the Deed of Variation although the general principles had been 
and Stanhope had agreed that if the Deed of Variation was challenged there 
would be no risk to the Council as Stanhope would repay. 

• A response to a comment that a legal challenge had been lodged the Leader 
advised that he was not aware of any challenge being made.  It was added that 
successful challenges to an agreement such as this were extremely rare. 

• The Deputy Leader stated he felt it was an acceptable risk to go ahead based on 
the legal advice provided. 

• In response to a question on the second variation and the validity of the contract 
under European Contract Rules it was stated that the new document sets out the 
legal and commercial risks in clear a table, which will be regularly revised and 
updated. 

 
The Leader sought Cabinets assurance that they were satisfied with the advice provided 
to make a decision.  Cabinet confirmed its agreement. 

RESOLVED 

 THAT: 

a) Cabinet, having considered the recommendations made by the 
General Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in this report 
of Cabinet ratifies its decision taken on 31 October (Ref 
No.2012.CAB.084) concerning the variation of the Retail Quarter 
(Old Livestock Market) Development Agreement; and, 

b) Asks the Monitoring Officer to review the issues of disclosure of 
commercial confidentiality and report back further. 

 
The meeting ended at 10.55 am CHAIRMAN 

2



 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Cabinet held at The Council 
Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford on Thursday 15 
November 2012 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor JG Jarvis (Chairman) 
 

   
 Councillors: RB Hamilton, AW Johnson, PM Morgan, RJ Phillips, GJ Powell and 

PD Price 
 
  
In attendance: Councillors AM Atkinson, NP Nenadich, P Rone, EPJ Harvey, MAF Hubbard, 

RI Matthews and A Seldon 
  
   
44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor H Bramer, Cabinet Member Major 
Contracts. 
 

45. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

46. MINUTES   
 
RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the meetings held on 18 and 31 October 2012 be 

approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
 
 

47. INTEGRATED CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT   
 
The Cabinet Member Corporate Services presented the report of the Assistant Director 
People, Policy and Partnerships and made the following points to Cabinet: 
 

• Agreed changes to corporate performance arrangements were approved by Cabinet 
in July of this year.  

• Appendix A to the report provides an overview and refers to progress being made on 
projects that were agreed to be done in order to achieve the six high level themes in 
the Joint Corporate Plan.   

• Also  included is performance against key indicators for operational areas of the 
Council – customers, employees, finance and directorate service areas.  Appendices 
B to F of the report cover the areas in more detail. 

• Satisfaction with the Council through the quality of life survey has increased from 33 
to 55%. 

• Good progress has been made on the accommodation strategy, which includes the 
civic hub and Plough Lane refurbishment. 

• There has been an unqualified opinion by the auditors on the Council’s accounts. 
• There has been some difficulty in recruiting commercial and procurement staff.  A 

range of other resourcing options are being used to ensure that the important complex 
projects do not slip.  

3



 

 

• Customer services performance has dipped due to an increased number of calls 
and staffing absenteeism.  Overall this is against an improving picture, which 
includes avoidable contact being kept at a low 17%. 

 
Cabinet made the following comments: 
 

• It was noted that incidents of domestic violence was still higher than the set 
target and represented 19.4% of all domestic crime.  This was a serious issue 
particularly for the children involved and how it affected them.  Agencies would 
continue to address the issues and work together. 

• Across both directorates there was interest in getting people on bicycles and 
walking and consultation on the transport plan concluded on 15 November.   

• With regard to GCSE results schools had not performed as well as expected, 
although this was a national issue.  Schools would be appealing against exam 
results as would schools across the country. 

• In referring to empty homes, which was raised at the last Council meeting.  The 
Cabinet Member stated the Council had a good record for bringing empty homes 
back into use.  In addition referring to the number of families in temporary 
accommodation, it was added that officers were working hard to rectify the 
situation.  

• The Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing stated that under safeguarding of 
older people, the delayed discharge of older patients from hospital was low.   

• In health and wellbeing it was noted that the take up of personal budgets by 
those qualifying was now at 50%, which was an increase on the previous year.  
Being responsible for your own budget allowed people to decide themselves how 
they used their funding. 

• In referring to the recent Ofsted inspection the Cabinet Member stated there 
would be a report to cabinet as soon as feed back had been received.  It was 
noted that the new chair of the Children’s Trust had been appointed. 

• In referring to page 21 of the report, delivery plan project exceptions, the Leader 
stated he did not believe it had been written clearly and advised that the 
Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) referred to could be done under regeneration 
powers.  It was hoped that it could be progressed with the use of a CPO. 

• A question was raised on the number of staff with less than 1 years service in the 
People’s Services directorate.  The director confirmed the number of posts were 
reducing, but there was also a recruitment campaign in social care as the 
authority was not always able to retrain and retain staff.  Recruitment retention in 
social care was difficult not only in Hereford but in the whole of the West 
Midlands and authorities were competing with one another to retain social 
workers. 

• It was noted that the number of fixed term staff in the authority had gone down in 
number significantly and the number of permanent staff had not decreased that 
much.  In response to a question on staffing costs it was stated that agency staff 
did not always cost more. 

• Reference was made to the number of vacant shops in high town and how the 
new retail development would affect this. 

• Under corporate service it was noted that there would be a reprioritisation of work 
plans. 

• The Leader thanked everyone for their comments and the points made on 
language and style were noted. 

RESOLVED: That Cabinet noted performance for the period to end of September 
2012. 

 
48. COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT  SCHEME AND COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS   

 

4



 

 

The Cabinet Member Corporate Services presented the report of the Chief Officer 
Finance and Commercial and made the following points: 
 

• The report sought agreement for a Council Tax Support Scheme in the light of 
the requirements set by the Government and the outcome of local consultation 
and to determine the level of Council Tax Discount for vacant properties and 
second homes. 

• The Council must provide for a local tax support scheme or it would revert to a 
default scheme which would cost in excess of the money the authority would now 
receive in grant funding. 

• Cabinet was informed that the government announced a transitional grant 
scheme after the authority had consulted on its proposals.  The authority has 
opted to take the grant, which means that only two principles consulted on would 
be used. 

• It is proposed to have a scheme for one year and to review the position during 
that year and to assess whether the grant would continue.   

• In order to meet the £1.4m funding reduction it is proposed to use changes to 
council tax discounts to mitigate the loss of funding from central government.  As 
a result the report also includes proposed changes to discretionary discounts.   

• The government has prescribed a number of elements that must be included in 
the scheme including full protection for pensioners so that their council tax 
support remains at the same level as their current council tax benefit.  This 
means that additional pressure falls on claimants of working age.  It is also 
expected that the scheme would protect vulnerable claimants and provide 
incentives for work.   

• The council consulted on proposed changes from 30 August to 26 October, this 
included consultation with the Police and Fire and Rescue Authorities, which 
showed broad agreement for all except two of the factors. 

The following comments were made in discussion: 
 

• It was noted that the response rate to the consultation was disappointing. 
• In response to a question it was noted that around 15,000 claimants  were of 

working age. 
• It was noted that claims could now be made for second homes. 
• It was noted that in order to receive the grant all tax payers were now expected to 

pay something in the way of council tax.   
• In response to a question on the increased number of potential defaults with the 

new requirements, the Chief Officer Finance and Commercial stated there was 
currently 5,000 people who did not pay council tax.  It was added that the 
collection rates were likely to reduce, currently the authority has a good collection 
rate. 

• The Leader emphasised this was a one year grant scheme only 
• In response to a question Cabinet was advised that 44% of respondents were 

recipients of council tax benefit. 

RESOLVED 

 THAT: 

a) The Council Tax Transitional Grant be accepted; 

b) Subject to the above, it be recommended to Council to adopt a new 
council Tax Support Scheme for 2013/14 based on the adoption of two 
of the principles that were consulted upon as indicated in paragraph 
31 of the report, so that we meet the requirements of the grant; and 

5



 

 

c) The changes to Council Tax discounts outlined in the report be 
implemented from 1 April 2013. 

 
The meeting ended at 3.15 pm CHAIRMAN 

6



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from David Powell, Chief Officer: Finance & 
Commercial on Tel: (01432) 383519 

 
Note:  Do not add page numbering  

 

 

MEETING : CABINET 

DATE: 13 DECEMBER 2012 

TITLE OF REPORT: BUDGET UPDATE 2013/14 

REPORT BY:  CHIEF OFFICER: FINANCE & COMMERCIAL 

1. Classification 

Open 

2. Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

3. Wards Affected 

County-wide 

4. Purpose 

To provide an updated budget position for 2013/14 and confirm the current financial planning 
assumptions as well as the approach being taken around the Root and Branch process for budget 
setting. 
 
5. Recommendation(s) 

 THAT CABINET: 

 (a) notes the current position; and 

(b) confirms for budget planning that a council tax increase of 1.9% can be 
assumed and will be ring fenced for Adult Social Care as part of the 
budget.  

6. Key Points Summary 

• The Council will set its council tax on 8 March 2013.  This must be based on a balanced 
budget and it cannot budget for a deficit. 

• The budget savings are being realised through the “Root and Branch” programme so that we 
deliver the necessary savings in 2013/14 and beyond. To date £5m has been identified for 
2013/14 and work in continuing to identify a further £5m. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

7



 
 

• Like other councils Herefordshire has again been affected by a reduction in government 
funding as part of the national deficit reduction programme. With funding reduced by a further 
£5.008m in 2013/14. 

• We continue to plan for an increase in council tax and our current assumption is that a 1.9% 
increase will be set for 2013/14. 

• A new and additional council tax freeze grant is on offer for 2013/14 and this would be 
equivalent to a 1% increase in council tax if we decide to freeze council tax. This grant  is not 
in the Council’s base funding. 

• Residents have not seen an increase in council tax since 2010/1. 

• An extensive public engagement exercise took place in the Your Community Your Say 
process that is shaping the budget decisions. We are now moving to the next phase. 

• The Government intends to announce the provisional local government settlement on 19 
December 2012. 

7. Alternative Options 

7.1 There are Alternative Options that centre on increasing council tax by more than our current 
assumption. This would trigger a referendum, with associated costs.  

8. Reasons for Recommendations 

8.1 The recommendations are to note the current position and also indicate the council tax 
planning assumptions required in order to set the budget. 

9. Introduction and Background 

9.1 On 19th December the provisional local government settlement will give Herefordshire the first 
official indication of our government funding for 2013/14. We estimate a further reduction in 
our funding of £5m. 

10. Key Considerations 

 The following headings set out the areas affecting our financial planning and budget setting. 
Changes to our planning assumptions agreed in the current medium term financial plan are 
also outlined. 

8



 
 

Council Tax Referendums 

10.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced binding council tax referendums that would be triggered if a 
council wishes to exceed a certain level of percentage increase in any year.  The system 
started for the setting of the 2012/13 budgets with a rise above 3.5% triggering a referendum 
for most principal authorities.  The new system replaced the former “capping” regime that saw 
central government determine council tax rise limits.  Referendums can be held at any time. 

10.2 For the 2013/14 council tax setting process the Secretary of State has determined that the 
threshold for a referendum to be held is when a 2% and above  increase is sought by a 
council.  This has led to an immediate change to our financial planning assumptions as our 
medium term plan agreed by Council in February modelled an assumed 2.5% increase in 
2013/14. Every 1% of council tax increase raises approximately £800k and this has an impact 
of £400k if we limit an increase to just under 2%. 

Council Tax Freeze Grant 

10.3 The Government has again announced a further council tax freeze grant for 2013/14.  The 
amount on offer is equivalent to 1% of Council Tax and for Herefordshire is worth £800k. This 
would be payable as an unringfenced grant in 2013/14.  The announcement was made by the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer on 8 October 2012 with a national total of £450m set aside to 
help freeze council tax. It is a matter for each authority to decide if it accepts the grant. 

10.4 The grant on offer for 2013/14 is the third such arrangement put in place by government since 
2011.  The following table outlines the council tax freeze grants since 2011. Herefordshire has 
accepted both previous grants. 

Year Equivalent Council Tax 
Increase 

Number of Years Available 

2011/12 2.5% 4 

2012/13 2.5% 1 

2013/14 1.0% 2 

 

10.5 Our financial planning assumptions are that the 2011/12 grant will be provided for four years.  
However Government is stating this will now be built into the base funding for councils. The 
second grant (2012/13) was for one year only and we have not used it for recurrent 
expenditure with a total of £2.16m received; this was allocated as £1.16m to transformation 
funding and £1.0m as an in year contingency. This has helped deliver transformation activity 
through the Root and Branch process with the contingency giving additional capacity to meet 
the 2012/13 financial pressures. 

10.6 The council tax freeze grants have eased pressure on Herefordshire’s residents and as a 
result the council has not increased its council tax since 2010/11.  However, it has an impact 
on our “base” funding because of the loss of funding that would have been built into our 
budget through permanent increases in council tax.  This is particularly challenging given the 
current pressures on adult social care and the projected additional demand for care services 
from an ageing population profile. 

9



 
 

Financial Framework for the 2013/14 Budget 

10.7 As part of the overall approach to setting the 2013/14 budget the following financial principles 
and assumptions are currently included (but remain under review): 

(a) The council will seek to raise council tax in 2013/14.  The original assumption was an 
increase of 2.5% but this has been reduced to 1.9% following the Government’s 
announcement in November.  It is worth noting that the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) agreed by council in February 2012 included an assumption of 2.5% 
in 2013/14.  However our planning assumption for 2014/15 and 2015/16 have now 
been reduced to zero council tax increase.  This may need to be revisited but given the 
government’s reduction to the referendum threshold it is a possibility that the new 2% 
threshold will be lower in future years. 

(b) We have included inflation as a financial pressure in future years.  For 2013/14 pay 
inflation of £579k and non pay inflation of £2.7m is included along with income inflation 
of £434k. 

(c) Prior year capital decisions are fully funded and current year capital bids will be 
included depending on Cabinet’s decision about any new schemes. 

(d) Revenue pressures in 2013/14 have been recognised to a total value of £5.18m.  
These are as follows: 

  £m 

 Adult Services Pressures 2.50 

 Children’s Safeguarding 0.65 

 Commissioning Support 0.40 

 Corporate Transformation 0.30 

 Costs to support procurement activity of 

    major contracts 0.40 

 Local Development Framework legal costs 0.43 

 Feasibility studies for outer relief road 0.50 

 TOTAL PRESSURES 5.18m 

(e) There are in addition to these pressures, specific high risks within adult services 
budgets relating to non-achievement with some cost-reduction schemes carried 
forward to 2013/14 and beyond (£4.6m); underfunding of demographic growth in 
previous years (£2.8m) inflationary pressures and high cost provision, particularly for 
working age adults (c.£3m). 

(f) Reserves: the current year’s financial position reported to Cabinet on 18 October 
indicated an overspend of £2.4m with specific pressure evident in Adult Social Care. 
Recovery actions are in place to balance the budget but it is prudent to assume we will 
need to replenish reserves or increase reserves given the financial challenge ahead.  
As a result a £2m contribution to reserves is included in the 2013/14 budget.  

(g) The Shared Services Partnership (Hoople) will contribute a further £540k of savings in 
2013/14.  This is in addition to the £981k delivered to date. 

10



 
 

(h) The waste reserve will be increased by £500k in order to prepare for the next stage of 
the joint arrangement with Worcestershire. 

Local Government Finance Settlement 

10.8 The local government funding and financial model continues to see significant change.  The 
government is pursuing a higher degree of decentralisation of decisions at the same time as 
significantly reducing funding. This has meant that we continue to see more local responsibility 
for decision making and service delivery as government transfers areas such as Public Health 
to councils from the health service but at the same time our funding for these services is cut 
on point of transfer.  

10.9 From 2013 councils will see a new model for funding linking financial revenue to decisions 
taken to support local employment.  On 21 November Local Government Minister, Brandon 
Lewis, confirmed in a statement that local government will retain a 50% local share of 
business rates and then keep a 50% share of any growth they generate, subject to a levy. This 
levy will need to be assessed for its impact on councils.  The Government believes it could see 
the delivery of around an extra £10 billion to the wider economy by 2020 and generate more 
business rate income for councils to help support frontline services. 

10.10 Herefordshire has already responded to the abolition of Council Tax Benefit at the end of 
March 2013.  We have consulted on a new “Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme” to deal 
with the 10% (£1.4m) reduction Government is imposing from April 2013.  The new scheme 
was amended so that the recently announced transitional grant scheme can be accessed by 
Herefordshire in 2013.  The grant is worth £259k to the council and by accepting it and 
amending eh scheme the impact on low income households has been limited.  The legislation 
requires protection for pensioners and incentives for people to find and stay in work.  This has 
been a particular issue for Herefordshire as nearly 50% of claimants are pensioners and this 
had the potential to increase the impact on working age claimants. Council agreed the new 
scheme on 23 November but unless the grant is built into our base for 2014/15 we will need to 
revisit the scheme next year. 

10.11 The Government will announce the provisional local government finance settlement on 19 
December.  This is the latest date for the provisional settlement in recent years.  It means that 
all councils continue to use estimates of government funding for planning purposes.  Our 
estimates are based on work carried out by Finance in conjunction with the Society of County 
Treasurers (SCT) Technical Team.  The latest planning assumption for 2013/14 is that our 
funding from government will reduce by £5.008m.  This comes on top of a £3.576m reduction 
in 2012/13 and an estimated further reduction of £4.654m in 2014/15.  Overall this represents 
a £13.235m reduction over three years from our “base” funding.  By comparison our funding 
rose between 2010/11 and 2011/12 by £2.6m. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

10.12 Schools are funded by a ring fenced grant (DSG) and the estimated funding for Herefordshire 
in 2013/14 (expected to be confirmed in December) is as follows: 

 £m 

Estimated Schools Block Funding 90.7 

High Needs Block 12.1 

Early Years Block 4.8 

11



 
 

TOTAL DSG 107.6 

LESS Academy recoupment at source (38.2) 

DSG received by Council 69.4 

 

Local Authority Central Services Equivalent Grant (LACSEG) 

10.13 In 2011/12 and 2012/13 Revenue Support Grant (RSG) funding for central education functions 
was top sliced for schools converting to academies.  However, the top slicing was not 
consistent with the pattern of academies opening in local authority areas and as a result 
Government was forced to revisit the methodology.  From 2013/14 the funding is going to be 
taken out of RSG and redistributed back to local authorities and academy schools based on 
pupil numbers.  The following indicates the position over the forthcoming two financial years: 

 2013/14 £m 2014/15 £m 

RSG top slice for all pupils in Herefordshire -3.678 -3.602 

Money to be returned to Council for local authority pupils 2.385 2.102 

Funding transferred to Academies -1.293 -1.500 

 

10.14 The above compares with top slices of £650k (2011/12) and a further £500k in 2012/13 giving 
a cumulative position of £1.15m of which £235k was subsequently refunded. 

10.15 Total budgets for central education functions compared to the indicative £2.385m in 2013/14 
grant means that there is a shortfall of £900k of which savings of £500k have so far been 
identified. This is an additional pressure being faced by the council. 

10.16 The Government has also reduced the Early Intervention Grant by £1.7m which directly 
impacts on improvement services and preventative services for children and families. 

The Budget and the Root and Branch Process 

10.17 The Root and Branch process is reviewing all services in the council through a systematic 
approach based on twelve thematic areas and its savings are to enable the council to balance 
its budget going forward.  Each review has been set an indicative 20% savings target that will 
yield a minimum of £24.1m in savings over the next three years. 

10.18 For 2013/14 the current position is that Root and Branch savings are making a contribution of 
£5m with a further £5m being found to close the “gap”. The areas being reviewed include 
bringing forward further Root and Branch savings, looking at funding levels for external bodies, 
assessing our inflation assumptions and accelerating our disposal of surplus assets to provide 
revenue savings. 

10.19 We have also reviewed our borrowing costs and likely level of income on our cash deposits.  
This has produced an additional £772k of savings that has been built into the current budget. 

12



 
 

2014/15 Onwards 

10.20 The Council’s financial plan now includes the estimated funding from the new local 
government funding model.  It also currently includes an aspiration not to increase council tax 
in 2014/15 and 2015/16 

10.21 The emerging picture is one of considerable financial challenge.  After increasing Peoples 
Services funding by £5.6m in 2014/15 and £5.7m in 2015/16 a gap of over £10m is evident in 
each year.  This will require a fundamental review of the Council’s service delivery for future 
years if we are to deliver a sustainable funding model. The Root and Branch Review 
Programme which concludes with Herefordshire 2020, will set up the Council’s priorities for 
the next decade. 

Public Engagement 

10.22 The Council carried out a public engagement process called “Your Community Your Say” 
(YCYS) that built on the annual Quality of Life survey consultation in July 2012. YCYS 
concluded in October and looked in more detail at the results of the Quality of Life Survey. 

10.23 By further understanding residents’ priorities it seeks to make use of the resources available to 
deliver services and what public services could be stopped or reduced in order to retain those 
identified as a priority. This has a direct link to the budget setting process and it is a key 
element of our approach for setting the budget in 2013/14 and our longer term planning. 

10.24 The report on the outcome will be delivered in December and lead to the final stage of the 
process that will use a telephone survey and web based questionnaire. These will cover the 
budget reductions arising out of the process to help close the budget gap.  More details will be 
included in the report to Cabinet in January 2013. 

11. Equality and Human Rights 

11.1 In demonstrating “due regard” in our decision making process, we will ensure that individual 
directorates and service areas assess the potential impact of any proposed changes that are 
as a consequence of budgetary constraints, leading to fairer, transparent and informed 
decisions being made. 

12. Community Impact 

12.1 The “Your Community Your Say” engagement process has brought forward a better 
understanding of the impact of our services on the community.  This will feature in the final 
budget setting process.  The process will also link with the Council’s Corporate Plan agreed at 
full Council on 23 November 2012. 

13. Financial Implications 

13.1 These are set out in the report. 

14 Legal Implications 

14.1 Local authorities must decide every year how much they are going to raise from council tax. 
They base their decision on a budget that sets out estimates of what they plan to spend on 
services. Because they decide on the council tax before the year begins and can't increase it 

13



 
 

during the year, they have to consider risks and uncertainties that might force them to spend 
more on their services than they planned. Allowance is made for these risks by: 

 
• making prudent allowance in the estimates for services; and 

• Ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn out 
to be insufficient. 

 
14.2 Local government legislation requires an authority's chief finance officer to make a report to 

the authority when it is considering its budget and council tax. The report must deal with the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget 
proposals, so members will have authoritative advice available to them when they make their 
decisions. 
 

15. Risk Management 

15.1 Collection rates for council tax continue to be good and we anticipate hitting out 98.6% target; 
this needs to be sustained.  The budget also includes a level of known and assumed growth in 
Council Tax base going forward.   

15.2 The current financial climate impacts on our borrowing and investment strategies, which 
support the revenue budget and capital programmes.  We continue to monitor this on a daily 
basis. 

15.3 The management of the 2012/13 financial position will have an impact on our 2013/14 budget 
because of the link to the council’s reserves. The Leadership Team has a recovery plan in 
place to mitigate the risk. 

16. Consultees 

16.1 Overview and Scrutiny will consider the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy and budget 
proposals. 

 
16.2 The public will be consulted about specific proposals. 
 

16.3 Herefordshire has carried out a Your Community Your Say (YCYS) engagement programme 
along with a quantitative Quality of Life survey where we added questions about priorities and 
which areas/services local communities might like to run themselves IF they were willing and if 
the opportunity arose. It also included what’s important and what needs improving.  

16.4 The results of this survey informed the qualitative aspect of the YCYS programme that the 
Council commissioned. A range of methods were used by the commissioned provider: 
community workshops, locality events (which were focus groups/deliberative), hard-to-reach 
groups were contacted using community researchers and community workshops as well as 
social media. Herefordshire sought to reach as residents as possible by various methods.  

17. Appendices 

17.1 None 

14



 
 

18. Background Papers 

18.1 None identified. 

 

15



16



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Andrew Tector, Head of Special Projects 
 on Tel: (01432) 261989 

 
Cabinet Member Report DRAFT 18 Sept 12  

 

MEETING: CABINET 

DATE: 13 DECEMBER 2012 

TITLE OF REPORT: TO CONSIDER FUTURE OPTIONS FOR WASTE 
CONTRACT 

REPORT BY:  HEAD OF SPECIAL PROJECTS 

1. Classification 

Open 

2. Key Decision 

This is a Key Decision because it is likely to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates:  

Notice has been served in accordance with Part 3, Section 9 (Publicity in connection with key 
decisions) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012  

3. Wards Affected 

County-wide  

4. Purpose 

To consider the proposals being made by Mercia Waste Management for the treatment of residual 
waste. 

5. Recommendation(s) 

 THAT:  Subject to Worcestershire County Council giving approvals substantially in the 
same form as those contained in the recommendations of this report 

 (a) Notes, pursuant to the Cabinet Report of 16th February 2012 relating to a 
variation to the existing waste contract to provide for an Energy from 
Waste plant at Hartlebury Trading Estate (the EfW Plant), the ongoing 
discussions with Mercia Waste Management Limited (Mercia) in relation 
to their proposals and the current status of satisfaction of the Parameters 
identified in that report; 

AGENDA ITEM 5

17



 

(b) Cabinet authorises the Director for Places and Communities in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Major Contracts, the  Chief 
Officer Finance and Commercial and Worcestershire County Council and 
through the joint governance arrangements between the two authorities 
to pursue terms for alternative methods of finance for the EfW plant; 

(c)  

(i) authorises the Director for Places and Communities in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Major Contracts and 
Worcestershire County Council and through the joint governance 
arrangements between the two authorities, to consider how the 
commissioning and operation of the EfW Plant could be 
integrated into the existing arrangements with Mercia, and 

(ii) if the Director for Places and Communities considers there is no 
satisfactory resolution in respect of point (i) above then (subject 
to f) below) he is authorised if he considers it necessary (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Major Contracts and 
Worcestershire County Council and through the joint governance 
arrangements between the two authorities) to launch a tendering 
exercise to commence the direct procurement by the 2 Councils 
of the EfW Plant in accordance with paragraph 9.9 below;  

(d) Notes that Worcestershire County Council are authorised to procure and 
commence enabling works up to a maximum capital cost of £1.8m at 
Hartlebury in order to maintain the programme for the EfW Plant; 

(e) Require the Director of Places and Communities to report back during the 
summer of  2013 with proposals for financing and procuring the EfW 
plant (by variation of the existing PFI contract or fresh procurement) to 
enable Cabinet to take a final decision; and 

(f) Notes that Worcestershire County Council is expected to approve similar 
recommendations and that c ii) is subject to satisfactory negotiation and 
agreement with Worcestershire County Council of necessary 
amendments to the current Joint Working Agreement in place between 
the Councils; and 

(g) Requires the Director for Places and Communities to report back to the 
Cabinet in the report referred to in (e) on the decisions taken by 
Worcestershire County Council on waste contract management and any 
implications for Herefordshire Council, . 

6. Key Points Summary 

• The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government granted planning permission 
for the construction of a 200,000 tonnes per annum Energy from Waste Plant at Hartlebury, 
Worcestershire (a site in the ownership of Worcestershire County Council) on the 19th April 
2012. 

• The decision of Cabinet of the 16th February 2012 required a set of parameters to be met 
before agreeing to proceed with a variation to the Waste PFI Contract.  These parameters 

18



 

related to Planning, Technical, Financial and Contractual matters. 

• The Planning and Technical Parameters have been met or would be before a variation was 
signed. 

• It is believed that the Financial Parameters and in particular Value for Money could be 
improved by investigating the financing of the project by using alternative methods of finance. 

• The Review of Herefordshire and Worcestershire JMWMS Residual Options Appraisal 
continues to show that EfW with or without CHP is the preferred option and the consent for 
EfW at Hartlebury strengthens their rankings. 

• The current method of residual waste disposal is by landfill at Hill and Moor in Worcestershire; 
the landfill will be full by 2023 if the two counties continue to landfill at current rates. 

7. Alternative Options 

7.1 The purpose of this report is to allow Officers to explore alternative options for the financing 
the EfW at Hartlebury. 

8. Reasons for Recommendations 

8.1 The recommendations allow the Councils to explore options that potentially deliver better 
value for money and reducing any adverse effects of programme delay by commencing 
enabling works at Hartlebury.  

9. Introduction and Background 

9.1 On the 16th February 2012 Cabinet authorised the Director of Places and Communities to 
enter into negotiations with Mercia to conclude a Variation to provide the EfW Plant in line with 
certain Parameters set out in four categories as follows: Planning, Financial, Contractual and 
Technical. Appendix 1 shows the current position in the satisfaction of the parameters as a 
result of the Councils' on-going confidential commercial negotiations with Mercia. 

 

9.2 Planning Parameters 
The Planning Parameters were satisfied when the Secretary of State granted planning consent 
in summer 2012 following the call-in Planning Inquiry. The consent requires any development on 
site to commence within 3 years of the grant i.e. by July 2015. 
 

9.3 Technical Parameters 
AMEC, the Councils' technical advisers, have provided an opinion that Mercia's proposals for 
EfW Plant satisfy the Technical Parameters (see Appendix 4). 
 

1. Previous Cabinet reports dealt with the Options Appraisal contained with the Joint Municipal 
Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) 2009.    The proposals from Mercia are in the context of 
the JMWMS and this has been subject to detailed consideration in the Planning Inquiry and 
Options Appraisal which has been conducted as part of the project.  The relationship between 
the JMWMS and Mercia's proposals was dealt with in detail in the Planning Inquiry. 

 
The JMWMS has not become outdated as a result of any material changes in waste treatment 
technology since its publication as shown by an Options Appraisal refresh that was 

19



 

commissioned in Autumn 2012.  This document, which continues to rank EfW highly (with or 
without CHP), is attached at Appendix 2.   
 

9.4  Financial Parameters 
The Financial Parameters remain the focus of current activities, particularly around Value for 
Money, which ties in with many of the observations made by some members of the public and 
objectors in relation to these proposals. 
 

9.5      Financial Parameters – Affordability 
The latest draft financial model provided by Mercia for operating the waste disposal services 
including the EfW plant is subject to commercial confidentiality and it is still subject to on-going 
negotiation being based wholly on relatively expensive bank debt financing.  Because of the 
potentially expensive bank funding, this model may not be the optimal solution for the Councils.   
Based on an initial examination of the model and adjusting the Councils' current budget to bring 
it into line with waste tonnage predictions, the average annual cost for the 2 Councils under 
current arrangements could be in the region of £32m pa.  This compares with an average cost 
to the 2 Councils of about £38m pa under Mercia's proposals with the EfW Plant. However, this 
potential increase of about £6m pa equates to an increase of about £36 per tonne in the 'do 
nothing' scenario continuing to use landfill as the primary means of disposal (Appendix 3 shows 
the estimated trajectory of landfill tax).  Also, if landfill physically continues at the current rate, 
the void space will become exhausted in 2023 on current estimates when the Councils could be 
expected to pay rates similar to that proposed by Mercia, with a mark-up, and no controls or 
capacity guarantees. 
 

9.6  Financial Parameters – Value for Money 
As part of developing their proposals, Mercia have undertaken a tendering exercise for the EFW 
Plant. The Council's Technical Advisors, AMEC, have undertaken due diligence work , including 
sight of Mercia's confidential data, which has provided reassurance that and have expressed the 
view that  Mercia's process for obtaining have obtained very competitive tender prices for the 
EfW Plant should not be a bad deal for the Councils (see Appendix 4). The issue that remains is 
that of Value for Money (VfM) due in the most part to the costs of alternative  methods of 
financing the project.  These include: 
 

a) Bank debt (as proposed by Mercia); 
b) Institutional financing (such as a bond or investment from a pensions provider); 
c) The use of state Guarantee to re-finance the "balloon" that would arise from financing 

the EfW Plant over its life rather than the shorter  life of the existing contract; 
d) Part or full public finance using prudential borrowing; 

 
Cabinet is asked to authorise officers to pursue proposals for alternative methods of finance for 
the EfW plant. 
 

9.7 PFI Structure 
The original PFI contract was awarded a grant to support the additional cost of private sector 
bank financing (PFI credits). Due to the effects of inflation and other economic factors, the 
grant only supports about half of the level of debt that would be required by the project going 
forward.  This support has been justified historically by the value of the risk transfer, 
particularly on balance sheet debt from the public to the private sector, but this has become 
blurred in recent years. 
 
The Councils will need to be cautious about mixing different sources of finance in terms of the 
project procurement and the rules associated with PFI.  Appropriate advice will be taken on this 
issue. 

 

20



 

9.8  Contractual Parameters 
As Mercia's proposals represent a variation to an existing contract that anticipated a similar 
facility (at a different time and in Kidderminster) the required terms are essentially in place.  The 
main provisions that need to be varied are those which will flow from the satisfaction of all the 
Parameters. 
 

9.9  Procurement 
It is recommended that consideration be given to how the commissioning and operation of the 
EfW Plant could be integrated into the existing arrangements with Mercia.  However in the event 
that the best blend of finance does not meet existing Contractual Parameters, the Councils may 
need to seek tenders for the direct procurement of the EfW Plant.  Authorisation for these 
actions is sought. 
 

9.10  Joint Working Agreement 
Subject to the agreement of a variation our contract for the procurement of an EfW Plant, 
Worcestershire County Council and Herefordshire Council will vary the existing Joint Working 
Agreement so that: 
 
a. its duration is commensurate with the intended  design life of an EfW Plant; and 
b. so that the assets and liabilities of the assets to which the JWA relates can by agreement 

and/or expert adjudication be distributed equitably at its expiry having agreed to the 
respective contribution of the Councils over its life. 

 
9.11  Programme 

Adverse effects on the programme for the provision of an EfW Plant caused by further 
negotiations and/or a further tender process should be mitigated by the commencement of 
enabling works, including planning conditions satisfaction, for which Worcestershire County 
Council require authorisation.  This would be funded by Worcestershire County Council and 
would be at Worcestershire’s risk pending the final decision on the EfW Plant, this risk is 
worthwhile as the enabling works would further the opportunity to exercise the planning consent 
and reduce delay. 

10. Key Considerations 

10.1 The report and proposed recommendations are intended to enable the Councils to consider 
different options for the financing of the EfW Plant to ensure that the authorities secure a 
proposal that delivers the best possible Value for Money.  

11. Community Impact 

11.1 The proposed plant is sited in Worcestershire; however the proposal enables both Counties to 
move from their current reliance on the landfilling of residual waste. 

12. Equality and Human Rights 

12.1 The report and its recommendations do not have an impact on Equality or Human Rights. 

13. Financial Implications 

13.1 The purpose of the report is to give Officers the authority to explore other options to finance 
the development of the EfW at Hartlebury.  The Council currently retains KPMG to act as its 
financial advisors solely to that Herefordshire Council to advise on Value for Money and 
Affordability.  

21



 

14. Legal Implications 

14.1 This report does not commit the Council to any variation to the existing contract and the 
Councils’ will continue to receive Legal Advice from the Project’s Legal Advisors, Eversheds. 

15. Risk Management 

15.1 At this stage the recommendations merely allow further options to be explored for the funding 
of the project.  The principle risk at this stage the risks of adverse effects on the programme 
for the provision of an EfW plant at Hartlebury caused by further negotiations and/or a further 
tender process  These risks can be mitigated by the commencement of enabling works, 
including planning conditions satisfaction.  The implementation of Recommendation 1(d) is 
intended to mitigate this risk.  

16. Consultees 

16.1 None 

17. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Current status of Parameters 

Appendix 2 – Options Appraisal – October 2012  

Appendix 3 – Landfill Tax Trajectory 

Appendix 4 – AMEC report on Technical Parameters 

18. Background Papers 

18.1 None identified. 

22



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

P
la

n
n

in
g

 P
ar

am
et

er
s 

P
ar

am
et

er
 

S
ta

tu
s 

C
om

m
en

ta
ry

 

T
he

re
 a

re
 n

o 
pl

an
ni

ng
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 w
hi

ch
 d

eg
ra

de
 

th
e 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 o
f t

he
 p

la
nt

 to
 s

uc
h 

an
 e

xt
en

t i
t i

s 
no

t s
ui

ta
bl

e 
to

 m
ee

t t
he

 o
ut

pu
t s

pe
ci

fic
at

io
n.

 

 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 to
 P

la
nn

in
g 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

w
ill

 h
av

e 
no

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 o

f t
he

 P
la

nt
. P

ar
am

et
er

 C
om

pl
ie

d 
w

ith
 –

 n
o 

fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n

T
he

re
 a

re
 n

o 
pl

an
ni

ng
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 w
hi

ch
 r

en
de

r 
th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n 

no
t v

al
ue

 fo
r 

m
on

ey
 fo

r 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
. 

 
C

on
di

tio
ns

 to
 P

la
nn

in
g 

A
pp

lic
at

io
n 

w
ill

 h
av

e 
no

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
V

al
ue

 
fo

r 
M

on
ey

 o
f t

he
 P

la
nt

. P
ar

am
et

er
 C

om
pl

ie
d 

w
ith

 –
 n

o 
fu

rt
he

r 
ac

tio
n 

O
ve

ra
ll 

P
ar

am
et

er
 S

ta
tu

s 
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
E

 

23



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

F
in

an
ci

al
 P

ar
am

et
er

s

P
ar

am
et

er
 

S
ta

tu
s 

C
om

m
en

ta
ry

 

1.
 T

he
 C

ou
nc

ils
 a

re
 s

at
is

fie
d 

th
at

 th
e 

ad
di

tio
na

l 
co

st
 o

f t
he

 V
ar

ia
tio

n 
is

 a
ff

o
rd

ab
le

 in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
: 

a)
 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
ils

' M
T

F
P

 a
nd

 r
el

ev
an

t r
es

er
ve

s;
 

an
d

 
T

he
 F

in
an

ci
al

 P
la

ns
 fo

r 
th

e 
tw

o 
C

ou
nc

ils
 n

ow
 in

co
rp

or
at

e 
th

e 
lik

el
y 

in
cr

ea
se

s 
in

 c
os

ts
. 

b)
 

th
e 

to
ta

l c
os

t o
f W

as
te

 C
on

tr
ac

t a
nd

 th
e 

V
ar

ia
tio

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
lif

e 
of

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t t

o 
20

23
 (

or
 a

s 
ex

te
nd

ed
) 

co
m

pa
re

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
in

fla
te

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 e

nv
el

op
e 

of
 w

ha
t w

as
 

or
ig

in
al

ly
 in

te
nd

ed
 to

 b
e 

de
liv

er
ed

 
(K

id
de

rm
in

st
er

);
 a

nd
 

 
. 

c)
 

lik
el

y 
co

st
s 

of
 o

w
ne

rs
hi

p 
an

d 
op

er
at

io
n 

be
yo

nd
 th

e 
lif

e 
of

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t (

as
 

ex
te

nd
ed

) 
w

he
th

er
 o

ut
-s

ou
rc

ed
 o

r 
no

t 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

am
ou

nt
 o

f a
ny

 b
al

lo
on

 
pa

ym
en

t t
o 

be
 m

ad
e 

on
 te

rm
in

at
io

n/
ex

pi
ry

).
 

 
T

hi
s 

is
 in

cl
ud

ed
 w

ith
 th

e 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 m

ad
e 

in
 1

a)
 a

bo
ve

.  
T

hi
s 

ha
s 

be
en

 a
ss

es
se

d 
on

 a
 li

ne
ar

 a
m

or
tis

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

de
bt

 a
nd

 c
ap

ita
l. 

 In
 

ad
di

tio
n,

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
di

al
og

ue
 w

ith
 H

M
 T

re
as

ur
y 

an
 in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 
gu

ar
an

te
e 

co
ul

d 
be

 m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 p

ro
je

ct
 fi

na
nc

ie
rs

 fo
r 

an
y 

ba
llo

on
 p

ay
m

en
ts

, i
f r

eq
ui

re
d.

 

24



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

2.
 T

he
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 c
os

t o
f t

he
 V

ar
ia

tio
n 

re
pr

es
en

ts
 

va
lu

e 
fo

r 
m

o
n

ey
 w

he
n 

as
se

ss
ed

: 

a)
 

ab
so

lu
te

ly
 in

 te
rm

s 
of

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
us

ed
 b

y 
M

er
ci

a 
to

 p
ro

cu
re

 c
om

pe
tit

iv
el

y 
th

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

co
m

pr
is

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

C
on

tr
ac

to
r's

 P
ro

po
sa

ls
; 

an
d

T
hi

s 
is

 b
ei

ng
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
by

 A
m

ec
 w

ho
 h

av
e 

in
di

ca
te

d 
th

at
 M

er
ci

a’
s 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t e

xe
rc

is
e 

ha
s 

pr
od

uc
ed

 a
 v

er
y 

co
m

pe
tit

iv
e 

ou
tc

om
e.

A
w

ai
tin

g 
a 

fin
al

 r
ep

or
t f

ro
m

 A
m

ec
 

b)
 

re
la

tiv
el

y 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 s
im

ila
r 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
pr

oc
ur

ed
 

re
ce

nt
ly

;
E

ar
ly

 in
di

ca
tio

ns
 a

re
 th

at
 th

e 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t e
xe

rc
is

e 
ha

s 
pr

od
uc

ed
 

pr
ic

es
 th

at
 a

re
 a

s 
go

od
 o

r 
be

tte
r 

th
an

 r
ec

en
tly

 p
ro

cu
re

d 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

 
F

ur
th

er
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
w

or
k 

to
 b

e 
un

de
rt

ak
en

 to
 c

on
fir

m
. 

c)
 

ab
so

lu
te

ly
 in

 te
rm

s 
of

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
se

s 
us

ed
 b

y 
M

er
ci

a 
to

 p
ro

cu
re

 c
om

pe
tit

iv
el

y 
th

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

co
m

pr
is

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

C
on

tr
ac

to
r's

 P
ro

po
sa

ls
; 

an
d

T
hi

s 
is

 b
ei

ng
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
by

 A
m

ec
 w

ho
 h

av
e 

in
di

ca
te

d 
th

at
 M

er
ci

a’
s 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t e

xe
rc

is
e 

ha
s 

pr
od

uc
ed

 a
 v

er
y 

co
m

pe
tit

iv
e 

ou
tc

om
e.

R
ep

or
t i

s 
aw

ai
te

d 

d)
 

re
la

tiv
el

y 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 s
im

ila
r 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
pr

oc
ur

ed
 

re
ce

nt
ly

;
T

hi
s 

is
 b

ei
ng

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

by
 A

m
ec

 a
nd

 D
el

oi
tte

.  
E

ar
ly

 in
di

ca
tio

ns
 

ar
e 

th
at

 th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t e

xe
rc

is
e 

ha
s 

pr
od

uc
ed

 p
ric

es
 th

at
 a

re
 a

s 
go

od
 o

r 
be

tte
r 

th
an

 r
ec

en
tly

 p
ro

cu
re

d 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

 F
ur

th
er

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

w
or

k 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 to

 c
on

fir
m

. 
e)

 
in

 th
e 

lig
ht

 o
f t

he
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

ty
 c

os
t a

nd
 o

th
er

 
di

sa
dv

an
ta

ge
s 

of
 th

e 
"d

o 
no

th
in

g"
 o

pt
io

n 
ha

vi
ng

 r
eg

ar
d 

to
 b

ot
h:

 

(i)
 

th
e 

ef
fe

ct
s 

of
 a

n 
in

cr
ea

si
ng

 la
nd

 fi
ll 

ta
x 

S
ee

 m
ai

n 
re

po
rt

 

25



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

(ii
) 

th
e 

fin
ite

 c
ap

ac
ity

 o
f e

xi
st

in
g 

la
nd

fil
l a

nd
 

th
e 

ab
se

nc
e 

of
 a

 p
la

nn
in

g 
co

ns
en

t f
or

 
an

y 
ot

he
r 

fo
rm

 o
f r

es
id

ua
l w

as
te

 
tr

ea
tm

en
t; 

an
d 

f)
 

in
 th

e 
lig

ht
 o

f t
he

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 c
os

t o
f 

te
rm

in
at

in
g 

th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t (

in
 w

ho
le

 o
r 

in
 p

ar
t)

 a
nd

 r
e-

pr
oc

ur
in

g 
th

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

af
re

sh
. 

3.
 T

he
 a

m
en

dm
en

ts
 to

 th
e 

S
ch

ed
ul

e 
6 

pr
ic

es
 a

nd
 

P
ay

m
en

ts
 M

ec
ha

ni
sm

 a
re

 m
ad

e 
on

 th
e 

as
su

m
pt

io
n 

th
at

 c
ap

ita
l c

os
ts

 a
re

 a
m

o
rt

is
ed

lin
ea

rl
y 

ov
er

 th
e 

de
si

gn
 li

fe
 o

f t
he

 fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
co

m
pr

is
ed

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n.

 

S
ee

1c
)

ab
o

ve

4.
 T

he
 In

te
rn

al
 R

at
e 

o
f 

R
et

u
rn

 (
IR

R
) 

ov
er

 th
e 

w
ho

le
 li

fe
 o

f t
he

 W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t s

ha
ll 

no
t e

xc
ee

d 
th

e 
IR

R
 u

se
d 

in
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 m

od
el

 in
 th

e 
or

ig
in

al
 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t.

5.
 D

E
F

R
A

 (
W

ID
P

) 
ap

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
V

ar
ia

ti
o

n
B

u
si

n
es

s 
C

as
e.

T
hi

s 
ca

n 
on

ly
 b

e 
su

bm
itt

ed
 to

 D
E

F
R

A
 w

he
n 

th
e 

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
 a

re
 

co
m

pl
et

ed
.

6.
 N

ei
th

er
 D

E
F

R
A

 n
or

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 in

di
ca

te
 

th
at

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
an

 o
bj

ec
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

V
ar

ia
tio

n 
on

 
gr

ou
nd

s 
of

 v
al

ue
 fo

r 
m

on
ey

. 

T
hi

s 
ca

n 
on

ly
 b

e 
si

gn
ed

 o
ff 

by
 D

E
F

R
A

 a
nd

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 

w
he

n 
th

e 
ne

go
tia

tio
ns

 a
re

 c
om

pl
et

ed
. 

26



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

C
o

n
tr

ac
tu

al
 P

ar
am

et
er

s 

P
ar

am
et

er
 

S
ta

tu
s 

C
om

m
en

ta
ry

 

1.
 T

he
re

 a
re

 n
o

 a
lt

er
at

io
n

s 
to

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t, 

its
 s

tr
uc

tu
re

 o
r 

fin
an

ci
al

 b
as

is
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
m

od
el

s)
 

re
su

lti
ng

 fr
om

 th
e 

in
co

rp
or

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

V
ar

ia
tio

n,
 

sa
ve

 fo
r 

th
os

e 

a)
 

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
to

 g
iv

e 
ef

fe
ct

 to
 th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n;

 a
nd

 
A

 d
ra

ft 
V

ar
ia

tio
n 

A
gr

ee
m

en
t i

s 
be

in
g 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 b

y 
le

ga
l a

dv
is

or
s 

b)
 

br
in

gi
ng

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t i

nt
o 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
nd

 fo
re

se
ea

bl
e 

le
gi

sl
at

io
n;

 a
nd

 
 

In
 p

rin
ci

pl
e 

ag
re

em
en

t o
ve

r 
C

ha
ng

e 
in

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l L
eg

al
 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t a
nd

 C
ha

ng
e 

in
 L

eg
al

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t i
s 

un
de

r 
ne

go
tia

tio
n

c)
 

th
e 

ne
t e

ffe
ct

 o
f w

hi
ch

 is
 to

 d
el

iv
er

 a
 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 b
en

ef
it 

to
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
 

27



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

2.
 L

eg
al

 o
pi

ni
on

 fr
om

 L
ea

di
ng

 C
ou

ns
el

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
ob

ta
in

ed
 c

on
fir

m
in

g 
th

at
 th

e 
ex

ec
ut

io
n 

of
 th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n 

by
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
, i

n 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

 in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

th
e 

"b
al

lo
on

" 
pa

ym
en

t, 
sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tr
ue

d 
as

 
u

lt
ra

 v
ir

es
 th

e 
po

w
er

 o
f t

he
 C

ou
nc

ils
. 

 
O

pi
ni

on
 w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 b

e 
so

ug
ht

 o
nc

e 
th

e 
C

on
tr

ac
tu

al
 T

er
m

s 
ar

e 
ag

re
ed

3.
 T

he
re

 is
 n

o 
re

al
is

tic
 p

ro
sp

ec
t o

f a
 m

at
er

ia
l d

el
ay

 
to

 o
r 

ce
ss

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ex
ec

ut
io

n 
of

 th
e 

V
ar

ia
tio

n 
as

 
a 

re
su

lt 
of

 a
 c

ha
lle

ng
e 

to
 h

ow
 th

e 
fa

ci
lit

y 
is

 b
ei

ng
 

pr
oc

ur
ed

 o
r 

op
er

at
ed

 a
nd

 th
e 

E
ur

op
ea

n 
C

om
m

is
si

on
, h

av
in

g 
be

en
 a

pp
ris

ed
 o

f a
ll 

of
 th

e 
fa

ct
s 

(e
.g

. t
hr

ou
gh

 th
e 

is
su

e 
of

 a
 v

ol
un

ta
ry

 e
x 

an
te

 
tr

an
sp

ar
en

cy
 n

ot
ic

e)
 r

el
at

in
g 

to
 h

ow
 th

e 
C

ou
nt

ie
s 

in
te

nd
 to

 e
ffe

ct
 th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n,

 h
as

 n
ot

 in
di

ca
te

d 
th

at
 

it 
ha

s 
an

 in
te

nt
io

n 
to

 c
ha

lle
ng

e 
U

K
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t o
n 

p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t
gr

ou
nd

s.

 
S

til
l a

w
ai

tin
g 

in
di

ca
tio

n 
E

ur
op

ea
n 

C
om

m
is

si
on

’s
 c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t c
ha

lle
ng

e.
 

4.
 T

he
 p

er
io

d 
of

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t i

s 
no

t 
ex

te
nd

ed
 u

nl
es

s 
su

ch
 e

xt
en

si
o

n
pr

od
uc

es
 a

n 
ec

on
om

ic
 b

en
ef

it 
to

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
ils

 a
nd

 is
 in

 a
ny

 
ev

en
t f

or
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 a
 p

er
io

d 
th

an
 th

at
 e

nv
is

ag
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

or
ig

in
al

 E
U

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t p
ro

ce
ss

. 

 
T

he
 A

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 
ar

e 
st

ill
 n

eg
ot

ia
tin

g 
w

ith
 th

e 
C

on
tr

ac
to

r 
ov

er
 th

e 
le

ng
th

 o
f a

ny
 e

xt
en

si
on

 (
be

tw
ee

n 
20

23
 a

nd
 2

02
8)

 

5.
 B

ot
h 

D
E

F
R

A
 a

nd
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 h
av

e 
in

di
ca

te
d 

th
at

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
n

o
 o

b
je

ct
io

n
 to

 th
e 

V
ar

ia
tio

n 
(in

 it
s 

fin
al

 fo
rm

) 
be

in
g 

ex
ec

ut
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
ils

. 

 
T

hi
s 

ca
n 

on
ly

 b
e 

si
gn

ed
 o

ff 
by

 D
E

F
R

A
 a

nd
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 
w

he
n 

th
e 

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
 a

re
 c

om
pl

et
ed

. 

28



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

6.
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

th
is

 C
ou

nc
il 

ha
ve

 
en

te
re

d 
in

to
 a

n 
ag

re
em

en
t t

o 
ex

te
nd

 th
e 

Jo
in

t
W

o
rk

in
g

 A
g

re
em

en
t 

in
so

fa
r 

as
 it

 r
el

at
es

 to
 th

is
 

fa
ci

lit
y 

fo
r 

a 
pe

rio
d 

a 
co

m
m

en
su

ra
te

 w
ith

 th
e 

in
te

nd
ed

 li
fe

 o
f t

he
 fa

ci
lit

y.
 

 
T

he
 C

ou
nc

ils
 h

av
e 

ag
re

ed
 th

e 
P

rin
ci

pl
es

 o
f a

 n
ew

 J
oi

nt
 A

gr
ee

m
en

t 
an

d 
ha

ve
 in

st
ru

ct
ed

 le
ga

l a
dv

is
or

s 
to

 d
ra

ft 
a 

re
vi

se
d 

Jo
in

t 
A

gr
ee

m
en

t. 
 T

hi
s 

re
vi

si
on

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
re

vi
ew

 th
e 

P
ay

m
en

t S
pl

it 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
tw

o 
C

ou
nc

ils
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

V
F

M
 is

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 to

 b
ot

h 
au

th
or

iti
es

 

29



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

T
ec

h
n

ic
al

 P
ar

am
et

er
s 

P
ar

am
et

er
 

S
ta

tu
s 

C
om

m
en

ta
ry

 

1.
 T

he
 R

el
ia

bi
lit

y,
 A

va
ila

bi
lit

y,
 M

ai
nt

ai
na

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
S

af
et

y 
(R

A
M

S
) 

an
d 

L
if

e 
C

yc
le

 C
o

st
s 

(L
C

C
) 

ar
e 

su
ch

 th
at

: 

a)
 

th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 r
un

ni
ng

 th
e 

fa
ci

lit
y 

ar
e 

th
e 

sa
m

e 
or

 b
et

te
r 

th
an

 th
os

e 
fo

r 
re

ce
nt

ly
 p

ro
cu

re
d 

si
m

ila
r 

pl
an

ts
 (

ad
ju

st
ed

 fo
r 

ca
pa

ci
ty

 a
nd

 
tim

e)
; a

nd
 

 
T

he
se

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ev

al
ua

te
d 

by
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 A
dv

is
or

s.
  

T
he

y 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

re
vi

ew
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

te
nd

er
s,

 
fu

rt
he

r 
w

or
k 

w
ill

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 o

n 
th

e 
fin

al
ly

 s
el

ec
te

d 
te

nd
er

 to
 

co
nf

irm
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
pa

ra
m

et
er

s.
 

b)
 

th
e 

co
st

s 
of

 r
un

ni
ng

 th
e 

fa
ci

lit
y 

ar
e 

no
t 

de
fla

te
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
pe

rio
d 

up
 to

 th
e 

en
d 

of
 

th
e 

pe
rio

d 
of

 th
e 

W
as

te
 C

on
tr

ac
t a

t t
he

 
ex

pe
ns

e 
of

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
ru

nn
in

g 
co

st
s 

fr
om

 
th

at
 p

oi
nt

 to
 th

e 
en

d 
of

 th
e 

de
si

gn
 li

fe
 o

f t
he

 
fa

ci
lit

y.

30



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

2.
 T

he
 r

et
u

rn
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 o
f t

he
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

co
m

pr
is

ed
 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
V

ar
ia

tio
n 

at
 th

e 
ex

pi
ry

 o
f t

he
 W

as
te

 
C

on
tr

ac
t, 

sh
al

l b
e 

su
ch

 th
at

 th
ey

; 

a)
 

ar
e 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
sp

ec
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 

pu
rs

ua
nt

 to
 w

hi
ch

 th
ey

 w
er

e 
pr

oc
ur

ed
 (

sa
ve

 
fo

r 
ag

re
ed

 c
ha

ng
es

);
 a

nd
 

 
T

he
se

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ev

al
ua

te
d 

by
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 A
dv

is
or

s.
  

T
he

y 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

re
vi

ew
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

te
nd

er
s;

 
fu

rt
he

r 
w

or
k 

w
ill

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 o

n 
th

e 
fin

al
ly

 s
el

ec
te

d 
te

nd
er

 to
 

co
nf

irm
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
pa

ra
m

et
er

s.
 

b)
 

ar
e 

in
 a

 c
on

di
tio

n 
co

ns
is

te
nt

 w
ith

 p
ro

pe
r 

us
e 

up
 to

 th
at

 p
oi

nt
 in

 ti
m

e;
 a

nd
 

c)
 

ar
e 

ca
pa

bl
e 

of
 b

ei
ng

 o
pe

ra
te

d 
fo

r 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f t

he
ir 

de
si

gn
 li

fe
; a

nd
 

d)
 

ar
e 

lik
el

y 
to

 b
e 

ca
pa

bl
e 

of
 b

ei
ng

 r
e-

fin
an

ce
d 

at
 c

om
m

er
ci

al
 r

at
es

; a
nd

 

e)
 

ar
e 

in
 a

 c
on

di
tio

n 
w

hi
ch

, h
av

in
g 

re
ga

rd
 to

 
th

e 
ad

eq
ua

cy
 o

f a
ny

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 r
es

er
ve

 
do

es
 n

ot
 c

re
at

e 
an

 o
pe

ra
tio

na
l a

nd
/o

r 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 b

ur
de

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
re

m
ai

nd
er

 o
f 

th
e 

de
si

gn
 li

fe
. 

3.
 A

ny
 p

re
sc

ri
p

ti
ve

 s
p

ec
if

ic
at

io
n

 it
em

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
by

 th
e 

C
ou

nt
ie

s 
[s

uc
h 

as
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 p
ol

lu
tio

n 
co

nt
ro

l/d
e-

no
x]

 h
av

e 
be

en
 in

co
rp

or
at

ed
 in

 th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

tio
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

fa
ci

lit
y.

 

 
N

o 
pr

es
cr

ip
tiv

e 
re

st
ric

tio
ns

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 C
om

pl
et

e 

31



A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

4.
 A

ny
 o

p
er

at
in

g
 r

es
tr

ic
ti

o
n

s 
re

qu
ire

d 
by

 th
e 

C
ou

nt
ie

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

in
co

rp
or

at
ed

 in
 th

e 
op

er
at

in
g 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r 

th
e 

fa
ci

lit
y.

 

 
N

o 
op

er
at

in
g 

re
st

ric
tio

ns
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 r
eq

ui
re

d.
  C

om
pl

et
e.

5.
 A

ny
 m

aj
or

 c
o

m
p

o
n

en
t 

w
ar

ra
n

ti
es

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
by

 
th

e 
C

ou
nt

ie
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
re

qu
es

te
d 

in
 M

er
ci

a'
s 

co
nt

ra
ct

 d
oc

um
en

ts
 fo

r 
th

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

 

 
T

he
se

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ev

al
ua

te
d 

by
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

ils
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 A
dv

is
or

s.
  

T
he

y 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

re
vi

ew
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 e

va
lu

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

te
nd

er
s,

 
fu

rt
he

r 
w

or
k 

w
ill

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 o

n 
th

e 
fin

al
ly

 s
el

ec
te

d 
te

nd
er

 to
 

co
nf

irm
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 th

e 
pa

ra
m

et
er

s.
 

32



The world’s leading sustainability consultancy  
 

 

Review of Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire JMWMS Residual 
Options Appraisal 
 
 !"#$%  
 
 
 !"#$ber 2012
 

33



Environmental Resources Management Limited 
Incorporated in the United Kingdom with registration number 1014622 
Registered Office: 2nd Floor, Exchequer Court, 33 St Mary Axe, London, EC3A 8AA 
 

Review of Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire JMWMS Residual 
Options Appraisal 
 
 !"#$% 
 
 
 !"#$ber 2012
 
 
Prepared by: Natalie Maletras and Hilary Livesey  
 
 
 

 

 

 

For and on behalf of  
Environmental Resources Management 
 
Approved by:   Paul Fletcher ______________  
 
Signed:    ________________________________  
 
Position:   Partner ________________________  
 
Date:   %&  !"#$ber 2012 _________________  

This report has been prepared by Environmental Resources 
Management the trading name of Environmental Resources 
Management Limited, with all reasonable skill, care and diligence 
within the terms of the Contract with the client, incorporating our 
General Terms and Conditions of Business and taking account of the 
resources devoted to it by agreement with the client. 
 
We disclaim any responsibility to the client and others in respect of 
any matters outside the scope of the above. 
 
This report is confidential to the client and we accept no responsibility 
of whatsoever nature to third parties to whom this report, or any part 
thereof, is made known. Any such party relies on the report at their 
own risk. 

34



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

1 

1 REVIEW OF HEREFORDSHIRE AND WORCESTERSHIRE JMWMS 
RESIDUAL OPTIONS APPRAISAL  

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

In 2009, ERM supported Worcestershire County Council (WCC) and Hereford 
Council (HC) on the review of their Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy.  Part of this work involved undertaking a Residual Waste Options 
Appraisal, the purpose of which was to help guide and inform future strategic 
decisions regarding the treatment of residual municipal waste. 
 
Given that three years have now elapsed since the Options Appraisal work 
was undertaken, WCC and HC would like ERM to reference check key 
assumptions used within the assessment to ensure their continued validity 
and appropriateness.  However, a full formal reassessment of the appraisal is 
not appropriate at this time. 
 
The original assessment considered a range of alternative technologies in the 
option development process. It was necessary within this review therefore to 
check whether any new technologies had become available since the original 
assessment was undertaken. 
 
Each of the Social, Financial and Risk Criteria has been reviewed individually, 
and where any assumptions have changed, the impact on the overall results 
and conclusions has been evaluated. 
 
The Environmental Criteria have not been revisited at this time.  The original 
assessment of the environmental criteria was completed using WRATE 
Version 1.   In April 2010 WRATE Version 2 was issued.  It would be possible 
to re-run the assessment using the new version of the software.  However, 
although a re-run may change some of the specific output values, any changes 
to the set of options would be minor and the relative performance of the 
options would not change.  There is therefore no value in carrying out a re-run 
of the appraisal against environmental criteria. 
 
 

1.2 REVIEW OF OPTION 

As part of the original assessment, options were developed using a two-step 
process.  The first step involved listing the full range of technology options 
available for the treatment of residual municipal waste.  This list has been 
reviewed to ensure that no new technologies have been identified since the 
original assessment was undertaken. 
 

35



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

2 

The second stage involved developing a short list of options to ensure only 
those technologies which would be able to deliver the objectives of the 
Strategy were considered.   On reviewing this process, it is considered the 
exclusion of mass burn incineration and plasma arc technology is still 
appropriate and that no new technology options have become available for 
consideration. 
 
 

1.3 SOCIAL CRITERIA 

1.3.1 Health 

The method used for assessing impacts on health was to quantify the human 
toxicity potential of the options using a series of characterisation factors which 
describe fate, exposure and effects of toxic substances for an infinite time 
horizon.  WRATE is also used to compare the different options against this 
criterion. 
 
The results showed that the majority of options have a beneficial impact on 
human health.  This is due to the avoided health impacts associated with 
increased recycling and the offsetting of burning fossil fuels.  The results from 
this assessment are indicative and are based on an impact assessment method 
from CML (1999) Problem oriented approach HTP inf. (Huigbregts, 1999 & 2000).  
 
Any technologies that were to be procured by the Partnership would need to 
adhere to strict EA emission standards and as such the impacts highlighted in 
this assessment are within those standards.  In February 2010, the Health 
Protection Agency published updated advice on the health impacts of 
emissions from municipal waste incinerators.  In it, the Health Protection 
Agency reviews research undertaken to examine the suggested links between 
emissions from municipal waste incinerators and effects on health.  While it is 
not possible to rule out adverse health effects from modern, well-regulated 
municipal waste incinerators with complete certainty, any potential damage to 
the health of those living close-by is likely to be very small, if detectable.  This 
view is based on detailed assessments of the effects of air pollutants on health 
and on the fact that modern and well-managed municipal waste incinerators 
make only a very small contribution to local concentrations of air pollutants.  
The HPA notes that the Committee on Carcinogenicity of Chemicals in Food, 
Consumer Products and the Environment has reviewed recent data and has 
concluded that there is no need to change its previous advice, namely that any 
potential risk of cancer due to residency near to municipal waste incinerators 
is exceedingly low and probably not measurable by the most modern 
techniques.  The HPA concludes that since any possible health effects are 
likely to be very small, if detectable, studies of public health around modern, 
well-managed municipal waste incinerators are not recommended. 
 

36



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

3 

Up to April 2011, the HPA was not aware of any evidence that required a 
change in its position statement. 
 
However, in January 2012 the HPA issued a statement saying that, while its 
current position that well-run and regulated modern municipal waste 
incinerators are not a significant risk to public health remains valid, it 
recognises that there are public concerns about this issue and so a new study 
is being carried out to extend the evidence base and to provide further 
information to the public on this subject.  The study began in April 2012, but is 
not due to report preliminary results until March 2014.  Therefore there is no 
significant new evidence which has emerged since the previous options 
appraisal work was undertaken by ERM, and so the conclusions at that time 
remain unchanged. 
 

1.3.2 Transport 

In our previous report, the assessment of transport distances was based on an 
assumption about potential locations of facilities, as no exact locations were 
known at that time.  Following an application for a scoping opinion from 
Worcestershire County Council, we then undertook a sensitivity analysis to 
show the effect of a known location on the transport assessment.  This showed 
that in all cases where a change in impact is discernible, the impact has 
increased slightly.  However, the percentage change was very small and the 
ranking of the options was unchanged.  Furthermore, the location was 
Hartlebury Trading Estate, where planning permission has now been granted.  
Therefore, the conclusions drawn in the original Residual Options Appraisal 
remain valid. 
 
 

1.4 FINANCIAL AND RISK CRITERIA 

1.4.1 Costs 

The costs in this assessment are not necessarily indicative of actual costs 
currently being incurred for ongoing contracts but do provide representative 
costs for comparison of the technologies being considered here for new 
contracts. 
 
CAPEX and OPEX have been established from a review of publically available 
sources and by obtaining information directly from operators of existing 
facilities.  There is little new information available on typical capital and 
operational costs of waste management facilities since the previous report in 
July 2009, therefore the capex and opex figures remain unchanged from the 
previous report. 
 

37



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

4 

However, new data is available on current gate fees for various types of 
facilities and landfill tax.  These data have been revised from our previous 
assessment, and the table below gives estimates of the cost of hazardous and 
non-hazardous landfill.  

Table 1.1 Gate Fees and Landfill Tax 

 Current (£ per tonne) 
Landfill gate fee 211 
Hazardous landfill gate fee 1562 
EfW gate fee 821 
Landfill tax 641 
Notes 
1 Source: WRAP Gate Fees Report 2012 
2 Source: Assessment of the Options to Improve the Management of Bio-Waste in the European Union, Arcadis et al, 
November 2009 
 

Each option will have an overall cost to the Partnership.  The following table 
does not provide an accurate projection of the actual charges to the 
Partnership, but allows over the project lifetime (25 years) the different 
options to be compared.  The costs in Table 1.2 include the costs associated 
with the disposal of residues from the facilities for each option.  There are no 
additional costs for option G as it is assumed that all costs are incorporated 
into the gate fee for this facility.  The capital cost and operating costs of a 
Waste Transfer Station with a capacity of 110K tpa is included in option G.  
Transportation costs and potential income from heat, energy and recyclate are 
not included in these figures. 

Table 1.2 Option Costs (£million) 

Option CAPEX OPEX Landfill costs Haz landfill 
costs 

Landfill tax Total Rank 

A 74 101 0 14 6 195 1 
B 118 113 0 14 6 251 5 
C 65 244 12 0 38 359 7 
D 62 229 12 0 38 341 6 
E 56 143 8 0 23 230 2 
F 56 143 8 0 23 230 2 
G 4 227 0 0 0 231 4 

 
 

1.4.2 Reliability of Delivery 

To get financial backing for a waste management facility, there needs to be 
security for the lender that the technology proposed can work on the scale 
proposed in the bid.  It is often harder to secure financial backing for facilities 
that have not been proven in the UK, that have not been shown to work at 
large scale, or which have only been used on feedstock with different 
characteristics from the intended waste stream. 
 

38



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

5 

To assess reliability of delivery, the options appraisal assigned scores on the 
basis of whether a plant has already been operational at a large or small scale, 
and in the UK or in Europe.   
 

Table 1.3 Points Attributed to Proven Technologies 
 
Development status Score 
Proven on a large scale in the UK 4 
Proven on a large scale in Europe 3 
Proven on a small scale in the UK 2 
Proven on a small scale in Europe 1 
*A large scale plant is a plant greater than pilot or experimental scale 
 
All of the options assessed are of a reasonably proven nature.  Only two 
options did not score the top score of 4 for being proven on a large scale in the 
UK at the time the first appraisal was carried out, and these were options E 
and F (one or two autoclaves).  At the time, there was only one autoclave in 
Rotherham operated by Sterecycle with a capacity of 100,000 tpa, and 
therefore the technology could not be said to be proven on a large scale in the 
UK. 
 
The Rotherham facility has now gone into receivership, raising questions 
about the viability of the technology, therefore the score for the two autoclave 
options on reliability has been lowered.  However, this does not change the 
ranking of the options. 
 

Table 1.4 Option Scores 
 
Option Proven Technologies Score Rank 
A 4 1 
B 4 1 
C 4 1 
D 4 1 
E 1 6 
F 1 6 
G 4 1 
*A large scale plant is a plant greater than pilot or experimental scale 
 
 

1.4.3 Planning Risk 

One of the greatest risks to any waste facility project is planning.  The 
development of this assessment has compared the options in terms of number 
of sites required for each option.  Options therefore fall into three categories; 
one site options (A, B and E), two site options (C, D and F) and the export 
option (G). 
 
The two site options are considered to incur the greatest risk.  To ensure the 
JMWMS is successfully delivered, the authorities would need both sites to be 

39



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

6 

successful through the planning process.  For this reason the one site options 
are considered to have less planning risk associated with them. 
 
Option G, the export option, assumes the designated facility is already 
established and thus the delivery of this option does not rely on obtaining 
additional planning permissions.  This option however does incur an 
additional risk in relation to availability of spare capacity out of county. 
 
Planning permission has been granted for an EfW facility which is CHP-
enabled at Hartlebury in Worcestershire.  Therefore, option A is considered 
low planning risk.   Although the permission is for a CHP-enable facility, 
additional planning permission is likely to be required for pipework and 
connections off site and there this option has been awarded a slightly higher 
risk. 

Table 1.5 Planning Risk Rankings 

Option Description Planning Risk Ranking 
A One site EfW 1 
B One site CHP 3 
C Two site MBT (on site burning) 5 
D Two site MBT (off site burning) 5 
E One site Autoclave 4 
F Two site Autoclave 5 
G Out of County EfW 1 

 
 

1.4.4 Compliance with Policy 

This criterion assesses the ability of each of the options to manage waste in 
accordance with national waste policy.  Government policy seeks to drive the 
management of waste up the waste hierarchy. 
 
ERM compared the options based on the tonnages of material handled by each 
of the following management methods: 
 
 the amount of waste landfilled; 
 the amount of mass lost during treatment; 
 the amount of waste used to generate electricity; 
 the amount of waste used to generate heat; and 
 the amount of waste recycled. 
 
The score for each option was determined by multiplying the relative 
tonnages for each management method by a weighting factor to represent the 
preference for each of these in the waste hierarchy. 
 

40



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

7 

The tonnages of waste managed at different levels of the waste hierarchy has 
not changed for any option, and therefore the assessment for compliance with 
policy is unchanged from the previous iteration of the options appraisal. 
 

1.4.5 Flexibility 

The options were assessed for their flexibility in terms of ability to accept 
waste with differing compositions arising from seasonal variations, potential 
changes to packaging material etc, and on their ability to adjust to variations 
in tonnages of waste throughputs. 
 
This criterion was assessed qualitatively by ERM, using professional 
judgement based on our knowledge of the different technologies and 
experience of previous technical options appraisals. 
 
The technologies have not changed to a significantly large degree that would 
alter the previous assessment of flexibility, therefore the previous rankings on 
flexibility remain unchanged. 
 

1.4.6 End Product Liability 

This criterion considers the risks associated with finding a market for the end 
products arising from the technologies.  Some waste management 
technologies have greater risks associated with the management of end 
products because the markets for these materials are unproven or under- 
developed. 
 
ERM compared the options based upon the tonnages of each material end 
product arising from the technologies involved in each option.  The end 
product(s) from each technology have been assigned a coefficient based on the 
risks associated with finding a market for them.  These risks have been based 
on ERM’s knowledge and experience of the secondary materials market. 
 
A high liability coefficient has been attached to RDF produced by treatment 
technologies for combustion off-site because there is still uncertainty about the 
availability of markets.  While some RDF producers have recently secured 
contracts to supply RDF to customers overseas, there is still market instability 
in the UK, with cement production continuing to experience low growth, and 
some restructuring within the cement industry with mergers and plant 
closures. 
 
The ban on co-disposal of hazardous waste with non-hazardous waste in the 
UK has severely reduced the number of landfill sites licensed to accept 
hazardous waste.  However, there is a landfill site capable of accepting 
hazardous material in operation approximately 60 km from the proposed 
sites.  The disposal of hazardous waste to landfill has been ranked as medium 

41



 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WORCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

8 

risk, as any problems at this landfill would require significant extra transport 
to the next nearest hazardous landfill site. 
 
It is assumed that the EfW and EfW+ CHP options (options A&B) would only 
be developed on sites with suitable and secure outlets for the heat and/or 
electricity produced and therefore these outputs have not been included in 
this assessment. 
 
The above assessment of markets for end products means that the end product 
liability coefficients assigned to the different types of products remain the 
same as in the previous assessment and therefore the ranking of options is 
unchanged for this criterion. 
 
 

1.5 RESULTS 

The following table shows the rankings for all criteria, updated to reflect the 
conclusions in the above analysis.  This shows that, while the rankings have 
changed for some individual criteria, this has made only a small change to the 
average of all the rankings.  However, it is worth noting that the overall 
ranking of the different options has changed slightly.  Option B, Energy from 
Waste with CHP, remains the highest ranking of all the options, but option A, 
Energy from Waste without CHP is now the second highest ranking.  Option 
E, single autoclave, has slipped into third place.  The ranking for all other 
options is unchanged.

42



 

 

Table 1.6 Total Updated Scores and Ranks 

Option 
Resource 
Depletion 

Global 
Warming Ecotoxicology Acidification Eutrophication Health Transport Cost Reliability 

Planning 
Risk 

Compliance 
with Policy 

Flexibility - 
composition 

Flexibility 
- tonnage 

End 
Product 
Liability Average Rank 

A  3 6 7 6 5 4 1 1 1 1 5 1 2 1 3.14 2 
B 2 1 6 5 3 3 1 5 1 3 1 1 2 1 2.50 1 
C 4 5 1 4 4 5 3 7 1 5 7 6 1 5 4.14 5 
D 1 4 4 3 6 6 4 6 1 5 6 6 6 3 4.36 6 
E 6 2 2 1 1 1 5 2 6 4 2 4 4 6 3.29 3 
F 7 3 3 2 2 2 7 2 6 5 2 4 4 6 3.93 4 
G 5 7 5 7 7 7 6 4 1 1 4 1 7 4 4.71 7 

 
KEY: 
Option A 1 x EFW   Best Performing  
Option B 1 x EFW + CHP     
Option C 2 x MBT – gasification     
Option D 2 x MBT – cement kiln     
Option E 1 x Autoclave      
Option F 2 x Autoclave      
Option G EFW out of county   Worst Performing  

 
 

4
3



44



Y
ea

r

La
nd

fil
l

T
ax

C
os

t P
er

 
T

on
ne

20
02

/0
3

13
.0

0
£ 

   
20

03
/0

4
14

.0
0

£ 
   

20
04

/0
5

15
.0

0
£ 

   
20

05
/0

6
18

.0
0

£ 
   

20
06

/0
7

21
.0

0
£ 

   
20

07
/0

8
24

.0
0

£ 
   

20
08

/0
9

32
.0

0
£ 

   
20

09
/1

0
40

.0
0

£ 
   

20
10

/1
1

48
.0

0
£ 

   
20

11
/1

2
56

.0
0

£ 
   

20
12

/1
3

64
.0

0
£ 

   
20

13
/1

4
72

.0
0

£ 
   

20
14

/1
5

80
.0

0
£ 

   

A
pp

en
di

x 
3

 £
!

 £
1
0
.0
0

 £
2
0
.0
0

 £
3
0
.0
0

 £
4
0
.0
0

 £
5
0
.0
0

 £
6
0
.0
0

 £
7
0
.0
0

 £
8
0
.0
0

 £
9
0
.0
0

La
n
d
fi
ll 
Ta
x

C
o
st

 P
e
r 
To
n
n
e

45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52


	Agenda
	
	3 MINUTES
	Final Minutes 15Nov12

	4 BUDGET UPDATE 2013/14
	5 TO CONSIDER FUTURE OPTIONS FOR WASTE CONTRACT
	Appendix 1 - Parameters 211112 v2
	Appendix 2 - Options Appraisal WCC_Briefing Report_21112012
	Appendix 3 Landfill Tax Trajectory
	Appendix 4 - HW EFW Procurement Technical Review Final Report 12385i1


